WORKING PAPERS

Understanding the Role of Converging Media: Shaping Migrant Narratives and the Paradox of Co-Creation in a Digital Era

Zhixi Zhuang, Mariam El Toukhy, Jack Krywulak, & Cyrus Sundar Singh Working Paper No. 2025/06 May 2025



Working Paper

No. 2025/06

Understanding the Role of Converging Media: Shaping Migrant Narratives and the Paradox of Co-Creation in a Digital Era

Zhixi Zhuang Toronto Metropolitan University

Mariam El Toukhy Toronto Metropolitan University

Jack Krywulak Toronto Metropolitan University

Cyrus Sundar Singh Toronto Metropolitan University

Series Editors: Anna Triandafyllidou, Richa Shivakoti, and Zhixi Zhuang



Toronto Metropolitan Centre for Immigration

The Working Papers Series is produced jointly by the Toronto Metropolitan Centre for Immigration and Settlement (TMCIS) and the CERC in Migration and Integration at Toronto Metropolitan University.

Working Papers present scholarly research of all disciplines on issues related to immigration and settlement. The purpose is to stimulate discussion and collect feedback. The views expressed by the author(s) do not necessarily reflect those of the TMCIS or the CERC.

For further information, visit www.torontomu.ca/centre-for-immigration-and-settlement and www.torontomu.ca/cerc-migration.

ISSN: 1929-9915



Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial-No Derivative Works 2.5 Canada License

Abstract

In the digital age, technology-enhanced media has significantly transformed various aspects of global migration, transcending physical borders that impact both the processes of migration and migrants' experiences. In order to capture the multifaceted and complex processes of migration, displacement, settlement, and integration, researchers have been exploring technologyenhanced media, such as social media, visual communications, and digital storytelling to deepen our understanding of migrants' evolving narratives related to identity and belonging. The creating, sharing, and archiving of these narratives is also directly connected to and affected by the evolving nature of old and new digital media. As such, this paper posits the term converging media. However, it remains unclear to what extent migrants use converging media and technology to advocate for their rights, drive social change, and foster a sense of belonging. What is the role of converging media in creating and disseminating these narratives, along with the profound meanings associated with migrants' identities and sense of belonging? How do converging media's innovative and distinctive features, such as interactivity, networkability, and accessibility support and empower migrant agency in decision making, social and political engagement, coping strategies, and resistance and resilience? What are the potential pitfalls and risks of using converging media in framing migrants' identity narratives? Focusing on the convergence of media, technology, and migrant communities, this paper investigates how migrants leverage these technology-enhanced media platforms to shape their narratives of identity and belonging, and advocate for social and policy change.

Table of Contents

Abstract	i
1. Introduction	1
2. Defining Converging Media	2
3. Converging Media and Its Affordances in Migration Studies	3
4. Converging Media and the Co-Creative Digital Storytelling Practice	4
4.1 Contextualizing Co-Creative Practice	4
4.2 Issues of Access and Literacy	5
4.3 Co-Creative, Reflexive, and Emotive Storytelling for Change	6
4.4 How Co-Creative Digital storytelling amplifies migrant agency & identity	7
4.5 Critiques of Co-Creative Practice	7
5. Whose Voice and For Whom: Knowledge Production and Dissemination	8
5.1 The Inner Voices: Migrant-initiated Digital Narratives	9
5.2 The Outer Voices: External Influences on Migration Narratives	10
6. Taking up Digital Third Places	11
6.1 Outside Looking in: Physical and Digital Third Places	11
6.2 The Co-Production of Digital Third Places	11
6.3 A Space to Make Place: Digital Placemaking Informing Physical Placemaking	12
6.4 Digital Citizenship: The Convergence of the Digital and the Physical	13
7. Conclusion	13
References	15

1. Introduction

Accelerated globalization and human mobility in a digitalized world has revolutionized how we connect across distances and cultures. Within this context, international migration has given rise to new forms of migration patterns and mobility, generating dynamic narratives and transforming social relationships, senses of identity, and citizenship (Triandafyllidou, 2024a). On one hand, migrants on the move experience greater connectivity across virtual transnational spaces, which facilitates migration passages, enables a sense of belonging, enacts citizenship, and enhances their health and well-being, as evidenced by studies with refugees and older immigrants who are part of more vulnerable diasporas (Georgiou, 2019; Millard et al., 2018; Palmberger, 2022). On the other hand, scholars caution the use of advanced digital technology, such as social media, in fostering neo-tribal nationalism that instigates exclusivity and anti-social division (Triandafyllidou, 2020), as well as the performative dimension of engaging with technology "for seeing and representing one's self and others and enacting citizenship digitally" (Georgiou, 2019, p. 602).

This new era of digital technology, characterized by the hyperconnection of users using internet-enabled portable devices, has facilitated the seamless flow of information, enabling greater global mobility between hybrid (digital and physical) spaces (de Souza e Silva, 2023). Yet, the unprecedented transformation has also introduced complex interpretations and (mis)representations of identity and belonging, creating ambiguous spaces that challenge traditional notions of community, placemaking, and citizenship. Fundamental questions around digital citizenship, such as "Who belongs and who does not?" (Triandafyllidou, 2024b) and "Who has the right to have rights?" (Georgiou, 2019), have been raised to contextualize the contested grounds of the digital realm. Researchers have been exploring the role of social media, visual communications, and digital storytelling to capture the multifaceted and complex processes of migration, displacement, integration, and placemaking, hoping to enhance our understanding of migrants' evolving narratives related to identity and belonging in a digital era (Ahmed et al., 2024; Andersson, 2019; Brigham et al., 2018; Campion & Dieckmann, 2024; Faye & Ravneberg, 2024; Festa, 2023; Hancox, 2011; McMorrow & Saksena, 2020; Miled, 2020; Nedelcu & Soysüren, 2022; Wilf et al., 2023). However, the extent to which migrants use media and technology to advocate for their rights and social change remains unclear.

Within this context, this article aims to understand how media and technology have evolved and intersected not only with each other, but also with migrant communities, and to what extent the convergence of media, technology, and community has enhanced, restricted, or both, the expressions of identity, the exercise of agency, and the reinforcement of citizenship and belonging. Specifically, the article aims to address the following research questions: What is the role of media and technology in creating and disseminating these narratives, along with the profound meanings associated with migrants' identities and sense of belonging? How do technology-enhanced media's innovative and distinctive features, such as interactivity, networkability, and accessibility support and empower migrant agency in decision making, social and political engagement, coping strategies, and resistance and resilience? What are the potential pitfalls and risks of using media and technology in framing migrants' identity narratives?

To begin, we conducted a comprehensive literature review focused on publications that explored the characteristics, applications, and interactions of new media, digital technology, social media, visual communication and methods, and digital storytelling in migration studies. We used a combination of the aforementioned themes as keywords along with additional terms identified, such as migrant identity, migrant agency, advocacy, belonging, citizenship, photovoice, and multimedia. The term 'migrants' refers to immigrants, refugees, asylum seekers, undocumented, or non-status migrants in this article. Data from the selected literature were then synthesized using thematic analysis to identify common themes emerging from previous studies, highlighting how different components of new media, technology and community members contribute to the broader understanding of digital narratives of citizenship and belonging that have transcended

both physical and virtual borders. Focusing on the complex relationships between media, technology, and migrant communities, this article provides an overview of the literature to investigate how migrants leverage these technology-enhanced new media platforms to shape their narratives of identity and belonging, and advocate for social and policy change.

This article starts with an introduction to the evolving nature of media and related technology and the proposal of an alternative definition of 'converging media' that appropriately speaks to its applications in migration studies, pointing to the tools used to generate migration narratives, the co-creation process, the voices and representations in the production and dissemination of migration narratives and the impact of technology-enhanced media on migrant agency, identities, belonging, and citizenship. The investigation also reveals how storytelling through converging new media and technology evokes emotion and change, igniting public and political discourses, and creates digital third spaces. It also calls for a more nuanced and conscientious approach to understanding the limitations of using converging media in a digitized world and the paradoxical effect it may have on creating more equitable and meaningful engagements with migrants. It draws on issues related to safety, access, privacy, and consent to highlight digital humanities, which aim to make the humanities more relevant in an increasingly digital world.

2. Defining Converging Media

As migrants navigate through the virtual and physical borders, documenting mobility patterns and migration narratives becomes increasingly crucial, yet intricate. The use of digital media for producing, consuming, and disseminating these narratives provides unprecedented opportunities to either promote or hinder citizenship and belonging. This digital realm opens up new, accessible spaces for communication, representation, and imagination, which can particularly benefit migrants who are often excluded from or marginalized in physical spaces or host societies to use these digital 'third places' to connect with each other and enhance their visibility (Marino, 2015). This article contributes to a nuanced understanding of that convergence of media, digital technology, and digitally connected communities and how their interaction captures these narratives, reflecting the evolving constructs of home and identity in a fluid, digitalized, and interconnected world. As such, we offer the term *converging media*, which will be used throughout this paper to better encapsulate the rapid, ever-evolving technological advancements, the dynamics of users, and their digital interactions and impact on shaping migration narratives.

We opt for the intransitive (as opposed to the transitive) definition of 'converge' (Oxford University Press, n.d.), as it asserts the lack of concrete point of origin which functions as the given cause for the changes in media and its use. We use the verb 'converging' in the present progressive to emphasize the term's temporal nature, highlighting the ongoing overlap of variables such as media, cultures, and communities as they evolve during the phases of intransitive convergence. The use of intransitive converging media suggests a focus on the processes and effects of convergence that are not directed towards a final state or specific outcome. Instead, it addresses the dynamic nature of convergence that continuously evolves without a direct, defined path or trajectory.

Understanding affordances is crucial when examining the hyper-linked, interactive, and cross-contextual nature of converging media in the digital realm. These features enable users to generate content that can be integrated across various media platforms, enhancing the way information is interconnected and disseminated (Jensen, 2011). Digital platforms, such as social media, are dynamic tools with structures and rules that are frequently reshaped by their users, leading to diverse uses that often diverge from the intentions of the original designers (Costa, 2018). The affordances of these platforms, such as persistence (the length of time content is shared), visibility (how accessible content is), spreadability (the potential reach of content), and

searchability (how easy it is to find content), allow users to explore and create new ways to engage with new and traditional media content. It is crucial to understand how users use these digital platforms as a tool for collective problem-solving, public deliberation, and creative collaboration (Chen et al., 2011; Costa, 2018; Jenkins, 2006;). The resulting 'collapse of context,' as described by Costa (2018), underscores the importance of understanding the media within the specific cultural and contextual nuances of the creators as affordances in practice. Thus, within existing, emerging, and potential digital third spaces, the convergence of media, technology, and users occurs, enabling them to co-create their narratives (Costa, 2018; Couldry, 2004). One key outcome of this 'collapse of context' is that users, especially migrants, gain agency over their digital narratives, despite the inherent biases that may emerge in digital spaces (Chen et al., 2011, Friedman & Friedman, 2008; Loos & Ivan, 2022). The significance of users' agency and influence as a result of these affordances cannot be understated, with literature documenting how corporate media, which often polarizes migrant narratives, has recognized both the value and threat of increased user participation, prompting them to create stories that either invite consumer involvement or shape user opinions (Jenkins, 2006).

Ethnographic research suggests the need to rethink the relationship between user agency and the structuring power of social media platforms, calling for a more nuanced understanding of affordances (Costa, 2018). This moves away from merely focusing on how converging media and technology shapes our society and how users drive technological convergence (Friedman & Friedman, 2008; Madianou & Miller, 2013; Manovich, 2003). Scholars argued that these aspects are not mutually exclusive or simple cause-and-effect relationships (Kahne et al., 2015; Manovich, 2003), addressing the intransitive character of converging media and the 'collapse of contexts' that blur traditional boundaries and social structures within media, communication, and technology due to convergence, and lead to new forms of interactions and meanings. In this light, the term 'converging media' becomes a more comprehensive framework for understanding the evolving dynamics between users, technology, and media formats that reshape migration narratives. The following sections will delve deeper into the use of converging media in migration studies.

3. Converging Media and Its Affordances in Migration Studies

When we reorient the definition of converging media from a focus on new digital communication and media technologies to a broader understanding of its affordances in shaping modern communication and society, it becomes a powerful umbrella term that speaks to numerous relevant topics, including migrant agency, digital storytelling, and the empowerment of marginalized voices (Lievrouw, 2023). As such, literature suggests that converging media is not only a technical tool that influences our culture, but instead is an active creator of new convergent cultures as a result of the collapsing contexts and affordances in practice (Chen et al., 2011; Costa, 2018). The interconnectivity of the internet and the introduction of the user-oriented Web 2.0 can be argued as the introduction of converging media, allowing for affordances that facilitated the active participation of and the direct influence on online users who now have the ability to use various forms of media, and their personal narratives to design, produce and distribute to content across the globe (Chen et al., 2011; Marshall, 2011). Instead of only asking what this converging media does to people, we should also ask what people do with this media — this allows us to reflect on the interplay between digital media and communication and better understand their relationship as collaborative, unidirectional, rapid, and perpetually evolving (Friedman & Friedman, 2008).

Mass media, in its traditional forms, has been heavily criticized for failing to appropriately represent immigrant groups since the 90s as it often deepens otherness, projects Eurocentrism, and worsens exclusion (Arapoglou et al., 2016). In tandem with the downturn of written media,

the internet's growth continues to provide a platform for voices traditionally othered or suppressed by mainstream media (Festa, 2023, p. 29). Despite this opportunity, the translation and interpretation of migrant identities often fail to convey their complexities, not just because of linguistic barriers but also because migrant identities are deeply rooted in intertwining histories, conflicts, religions, politics, and diverse worldviews, which are often oversimplified by mass media creators that produce narratives primed for for-profit participation, often reducing migrants to entities with little agency or voice, using polarization to increase visibility and consumer participation (Georgiou & Leurs, 2022; Jenkins, 2006).

Therefore, it has become imperative to examine the role of converging media in amplifying migrant experiences, identities, and narratives. The innovation of converging media lies within its hyperlinked accessibility which enables ordinary users to construct, co-construct and reconstruct content, rendering them actively engaged participants in the exchange of information as opposed to static receivers (Chen et al., 2011). This user-generated, bottom-up production process, typically facilitated by social media (Benick, 2012), emphasizes the integral role that communication through converging media plays in migration studies, contributing to supporting and amplifying migrant experiences, identities and narratives (Nedelcu & Soysüren, 2022). This support is facilitated by digitization, a cornerstone of converging media, which makes creating, sharing, and editing content an accessible process, thus promoting creativity, exploration and connection building (Friedman & Friedman, 2008). For example, mobile phones, a convergence of the internet and the telephone, have been a crucial tool that supports refugees and undocumented immigrants seeking to gather resources to help them integrate into their new host societies (Fay & Ravneberg, 2024; Festa, 2023; Weibert et al., 2023). These digital tools provide access to digital maps, resource platforms, and social networks through which migrants can connect with their support network, share their experiences and learn from other migrants' experiences to help them better cope with their often hostile new environments (Fay & Ravneberg, 2024, Nedelcu & Soysüren, 2022).

Literature reveals that connected migrants have a stronger ability to integrate into host societies while maintaining their transnational lives, often using converging media to communicate with the familiar while navigating the unfamiliar (Festa, 2023; Nedelcu & Soysüren, 2022). Through online networks and digital storytelling campaigns, migrants can amplify their voices, raise awareness about their experiences, and mobilize support for social and political causes relevant to their communities (LeBuhn, 2018). For instance, Somali refugees in Dadaab camps in Kenya received support through friends and family from abroad, through converging media including text messaging, e-mail, and user organized funding campaigns to support their transition (Nedelcu & Soysüren, 2022). In addition to enabling open communication, converging media's interactive nature creates a fruitful ground for sharing migrant narratives through digital storytelling, allowing them to be active creators, participators and disseminators of their own experiences (Alexandra 2015; Brigham et al., 2018; Miled, 2020; Svoen et al., 2019; Weibert et al., 2023). Through co-creative processes, which will be explored later in the paper, converging media supports individuals who use their faces and voices to tell their stories, effectively directing attention towards marginalized voices who struggle to enter Western societies (Festa, 2023). But with such attention, it is pertinent to interrogate the prevalent issues of access, representation and migrant agency that may arise when migrants participate in digital storytelling via converging media.

4. Converging Media and the Co-Creative Digital Storytelling Practice

4.1 Contextualizing Co-Creative Practice

Originally evolving from Arnstein's (1969) ladder of participation and Manzini's (2015) dual axis of collaborative and active involvement, co-creative practice has been celebrated for its interactive and intentional design that can empower migrants in their journeys of digital storytelling (Joshi, 2018). Co-creation is an iterative, non-linear and collaborative knowledge generation process (Moser & Korstjens, 2022), which similar to converging media, has been difficult to define, often interchangeably referred to as co-design or co-production (Joshi, 2018; Praag, 2021). However, some literature suggests a distinction between co-creation, which refers to collaborative planning and preparation of a digital story, and co-production, which refers to the editing and dissemination of a digital story (Fay & Ravneberg, 2024). The co-creative process has been the framework for interaction between institutional actors including academic researchers and arts-based practitioners, and marginalized communities including migrants and people of colour, enabling them to support migrants in producing and disseminating their narratives (Agundez Del Castillo et al., 2024; Hill, 2019).

4.2 Issues of Access and Literacy

With the prevalence of digital devices in almost every household, and users across multiple age groups including young children, converging new media facilitated by digital technology has become ubiquitous with modern life (Sine, 2019). This does not, however, acknowledge key issues of access and the widening digital divide that can result when we consider groups who either do not have access to digital technologies, are constrained in their use of social media or similar platforms, or do not have the necessary literacy, safety, or desire to participate in an increasingly digital world (Warschauer & Matuchniak, 2010). Three considerations must be taken into account when discussing converging media and its role as a facilitator of information and communication sharing: 1) Access—who has it and who doesn't? 2) Literacy—who knows what? and 3) Representation—who says and does what in relation to whom? (Jensen, 2011; Madianou & Miller, 2013).

To effectively dissect issues of migrant representation in converging media, we must begin with the issue of physical access. Access to the physical infrastructure of converging media, such as internet linked devices and a working internet connection is not yet considered an essential service, thus disproportionately excluding migrants who are amongst the communities often unable to access these basic services (Yazici, 2024). For example, in Britain, those who are least likely to have internet access are those who are financially vulnerable, with migrants and people of colour being 2.5 times more likely to be in poverty (Fay & Ravneberg, 2024; Yazici, 2024). Additionally, migrants of older generations who have not learned to use digital technologies during their formative years' experience difficulty learning these new skills, or have no desire to, thus excluding them from participating in converging media and global knowledge sharing (Loos & Ivan, 2022). Physical exclusion from participation thus widens the digital divide, better understood as the inequalities experienced in the use of information and communication technologies (Wei & Hindman, 2011). Studies have shown that socioeconomic status, race, and gender are closely associated with how one uses the internet, leading us to the bridge that connects the divide: digital and media literacy (Fay & Ravneberg, 2024; Madianou & Miller, 2013).

Digital literacy is key knowledge for individuals to use digital technologies once they have access, but media literacy is necessary for rendering a user of converging media an active participant, rather than a static receiver (Chen et al., 2011; Fay & Ravneberg, 2024). Having media literacy can be better understood as a continuous relationship between being a consumer of media and a prosumer of media (Chen et al, 2011). A consumer can access converging media messages and understand them, while a prosumer converges their experience, perspective and opinions with the messages they accessed to produce and share their own narratives, effectively

participating in digital communities as an actor with agency (Baines et al., 2024; Chen et al., 2011; Fay & Ravneberg, 2024; Yazici, 2024).

Media literacy is a key component of participating in the 21st century, especially since messages disseminated using converging media tools are subjective interpretations of the users who generated them, rendering those messages inherently biased (Chen et al., 2011; Jaramillo-Dent & Perez-Rodriguez, 2019). If one does not feel safe participating in consuming or creating converging media, they risk being underrepresented, a fate many migrants and marginalized communities still face (Yazici, 2024). As converging media can never be neutral, foundationally co-constructed with embedded values and experiences of its creators, it stands to complicate migrants' lives as they have less access and literacy to share their own narratives in the digital space, thus remaining unable to counteract negative stereotypes (Chen et al., 2011; Svoen et al., 2019). This exclusion from participation in and consumption of converging media inevitably exacerbates their physical and social exclusion and further highlights the importance of adopting participatory design methods such as co-creation to rebalance the scales of representation and narrow the digital divide, ensuring accessibility and adequate media literacy for migrants.

4.3 Co-Creative, Reflexive, and Emotive Storytelling for Change

Co-creation in its essence must be interpreted as a reflexive exercise that swings between product and process, where development of projects does not progress linearly and representation is constantly in flux (Campion & Dieckmann, 2024). Often a collaboration between researchers and citizen participants, co-creative processes may involve frequent meetings including sharing circles, learning workshops, creation sessions and most importantly, continuous discussion and reflection (Fay & Ravneberg, 2024). This process is underpinned by allowing the community with which project teams are collaborating with to exercise their agency, share their strengths, and contribute to the creation and production of a project, ensuring constant inclusion (Moser & Korstjens, 2022). For instance, in an arts-based collaborative project with refugees in the UK, musical composers collaborated with asylum-seeking students over the course of six workshops to co-create a multimedia performance showcasing the migrant students' transitional experiences in the UK that included sharing narratives, retelling them through drawings, combining narratives through video and ultimately producing a collection of performances of varying mediums to be performed and disseminated digitally (Campion & Dieckmann, 2024). This reflexive practice allowed the students to become active participators in the creation process, as they had to reflect on their experiences, absorb the experiences of others, and ultimately foster a new connection with their community, thus enhancing their representation and agency (Campion & Dieckmann, 2024).

There are various forms of converging media typically used to co-create these powerful narratives, including interactive documentaries (convergence between film and performance art), photovoice (convergence of photography and audio recording), social media posts (convergence of written text and images) (Benick, 2012; Mitra, 2019; Weibert et al., 2023). For instance, photovoice using digital cameras or camcorders were typically followed by workshops, group discussions or interviews of the creators (Bilgin, 2021; McMorrow & Sakesena, 2020). These participatory visual methods provided a platform for participants to express their opinions, experiences and identities, showcasing the efficacy of converging media tools in facilitating self-expression and the open discussion of complex intersections of identity and belonging (Miled, 2020). These co-creative processes ensured that creators experienced an open, recursive, and collaborative experience (Bilgin 2021; Del Vecchio et al., 2017; McMorrow & Saksena, 2020; Pienimäki, 2021). Migrants are given a platform to document their experiences and assert themselves as primary authors of their narratives that bring attention to issues such as structural violence and power relations while fostering a sense of recognition and agency among

marginalized groups (Alexandra, 2015). In particular, digital storytelling has served as an opportunity for migrant and refugee youth to develop digital literacy skills, thus effectively supporting them when they identify support needs, or find that they need non-lingual methods to more accurately express themselves (Johnson & Kendrick, 2017).

When migrants are given the capability to express themselves without imposed restraints, emotionally provocative stories emerge to evoke change and decentre the predominant Western narratives. Hancox (2011) facilitated a digital storytelling project on the Forgotten Australians, a group which consists of 500,000 children who were displaced from their families between 1930 and 1970 in Australia. Hancox (2011) found that putting the full emphasis on the displaced individuals to tell the stories from their perspectives created what she described as "chaos narratives," stories which are fixated on uncertainty and can often be "too painful to be heard by others." Hancox highlights the fact that the project was connected to provoking action from the Australian federal government. Similarly, LeBuhn (2018) found online content which was emotionally provoking and narrative-rich was more successful at raising awareness of refugees. However, LeBuhn is keen on emphasizing that online content and campaigns often fail to address root causes. Krause and Gubrium explored young mothers' experiences of migration and movement facilitated through workshops which featured "talking and writing prompts, individual and group script work, a story circle, script editing, voiceover recording of scripts, storyboarding, image selection, digital editing, and assembling" (Krause & Gubrium, 2019, p. 425). The stories created a "narrative shock," which proved incredibly valuable for cultivating dignity.

4.4 How Co-Creative Digital Storytelling Amplifies Migrant Agency & Identity

Co-creation as a practice acknowledges the lived experiences of communities, such as migrants, who typically experience a stripping of agency and representation, recognizing them instead as participating multidimensional beings capable of action and critical analysis, as opposed to just entities in need of constant support (Baines et al., 2024). This interlinked relationship between agency, capacity building and representation is central to the co-creative process (Campion & Dieckmann, 2024). The aforementioned converging media tools can build a meaningful bridge between migrant storytellers and their audiences. For instance, photographs made, collected or shared by migrants during the co-creation of a project and later displayed alongside exhibition material have functioned as an empathetic bridge between storyteller and story listener, allowing the audience to better grasp the complicated experiences of the migrants who chose to share their stories (Agundez Del Castillo et al., 2024). These photographs also acted as bridges between researchers and participants, as they deepened their understandings of each other while allowing the participants to shape the outcome of their projects, effectively rendering them not just co-creators, but co-producers as well (Agundez Del Castillo et al., 2024; Fay & Rayneberg, 2024). Although the co-creative practice has been an innovative enabler for migrants to share narratives using converging media, it still suffers from dynamic imbalances of power and various other challenges (Hill, 2019).

4.5 Critiques of Co-Creative Practice

As with any recursive practice, participators in the co-creative process must continually assess the dynamics of power between one another throughout the development of a project, as co-creative production is primarily a public and social endeavour (Hill, 2019). Contextualizing the roles of the researcher and the participator are paramount in order to properly assess co-creative practice through the lens of accessibility, agency and representation.

To start, many researchers who spearhead co-creative digital storytelling projects are products of Western education and practices, effectively constraining them to Western narratives and structures (Hill, 2019). This may inadvertently silence migrants and further exclude them from integrating into host societies by identifying them as incapable or in need of support (Lember et al., 2019; Wright-Brough, 2020). Researchers inadvertently reproduce oppressive power structures when they seek out and ask migrants to re-share their migration narrative to fulfil the researchers' predefined pursuit of knowledge, thus spotlighting only one aspect of migrants' identities, effectively ignoring their individual dynamism (Campion & Dieckmann, 2024). This coincides with findings in literature that showcase that most studies engage participants as co-creators, who only provide their narratives, rather than also engaging them as co-producers, who collaboratively create, edit, finalize and share their narratives—rendering this practice inaccessible to the very participants who made the projects possible (Fay & Ravneberg, 2024; Joshi, 2018).

There is no standardized approach to addressing power dynamics since migrants' intersectional identities and socioeconomic contexts are often not considered (Fay & Ravneberg, 2024). Researchers must reorient their positioning from researcher to collaborator and ensure that roles and responsibilities are clearly defined and that each step of the co-creative process is explained and accessible (Lember et al., 2019; Moser & Korstjens, 2022). For instance, gathering migrants' narratives through social media may have the potential to empower them, but only if they are involved in the co-production process as well, which many will not be due to lack of media literacy, lack of resources to attend meetings, language barriers, feeling unsafe sharing or collaborating, or lacking clearly defined expectations and roles by the researchers (Chen et al., 2011; Lember et al., 2019; Moser & Korstjens, 2022).

Due to these ever-present power imbalances, research suggests that individuals asked to participate in co-creative digital storytelling projects need to build trust over time (Fay & Ravneberg, 2024; Hill, 2019). As such, collaborators must work to prepare safe, open, inclusive spaces for their participants that consider their diverse social, economic and cultural contexts that go beyond their identity as a migrant in need (Fay & Ravnberg, 2024). This trust building is especially crucial as collaborators, often also the project managers and final editors, will need to provide guidance, feedback and final editing support to migrants' stories (Wright-Brough, 2020). They must grapple with the inevitability of changing the authors' voices to ensure publish-ability or to risk having the migrants' voices remain unheard due to an unfinished piece (Hill, 2019; Wright-Brough, 2020). This brings us to the crux of the co-creative process and how at its core, collaborative practice hinges on the continued influence of everyone in the co-creative process, as such there may not be such a thing as an individual story. Instead, co-created narratives can instead be accepted as convergences of personal experiences, external expectations, editorial influence, and project constraints (Hill, 2019).

Consequently, it becomes necessary to adopt reflexivity in co-creative practice and allow the open and networked characteristics of converging media to facilitate fluid communication between researcher and participant, giving participants the opportunity to exercise agency and self-represent while participating in the digital storytelling process (Agundez Del Castillo et al., 2024; Baines et al., 2024).

5. Whose Voice and For Whom: Knowledge Production and Dissemination

As with many critical topics of online discussion, migrants and their migration processes are increasingly trivialized and fetishized in the media spotlight as just another reactionary topic. A narrow understanding of the topic, often informed by brash political stances as opposed to a coherent understanding, contributes to the paralyzation of real change and what has been coined as the paradox of digitalization (Leurs et al., 2018). A paradox in which advancing technology and converging media are increasingly becoming a necessary tool which has antithetical effects. As

migrants are increasingly required to navigate spaces both physically and virtually, the consequences of media use should be carefully observed. This section wrestles with the interplay between migrant identity and narratives and converging media's complex role in the process.

5.1 The Inner Voices: Migrant-initiated Digital Narratives

Digital narratives initiated by and created solely by migrants, are primarily disseminated through social media (if disseminated at all). In the present day, converging media often serves as the medium for immigrants to stay connected to their origin countries; immigrant youth heavily rely on different forms of converging media (primarily social media) to form their identities (Wilf et al., 2022). In some cases, independently initiated use of converging media can affirm identity: Yoon (2018) found that 1.5 generation Korean immigrants (born in Korea and immigrated with their parents) in Toronto use "digital media as a tool for facilitating multicultural senses of identities." However, the affirmation of identity through social media does not guarantee a smooth transition into host societies, because "Their media use and identity work may vacillate between integration (into the dominant cultural norms of the host society) and dis-integration (from the host society)" (p. 164). Veronis, Tabler, and Ahmed (2018) interviewed Syrian refugees (between 16 and 25 years old) about their social media use and found that social media helped refugees cross linguistic-cultural barriers, find a sense of belonging, and bolster their agency within Canada. Shuva (2021) interviewed Bangladeshi immigrants (average age 30 and 49 years) and found that social media can connect skilled immigrants to work.

While converging media can function as a tool for identity affirmation (Yoon, 2018) and aid integration into host countries (Veronis et al., 2018), the impact of converging media on immigrants' ability to provoke and create social change is much more in question. Through 52 indepth face-to-face interviews with Chinese immigrant women, Chen, Tian and Chang (2021) found that while social media provides the tools for forging steady intersectional identities, social media did not help them in combatting or taking action to change discriminatory social life. Rather, social media problematizes migrants' strategy to strive for social equality (Chang, et al., 2021). For example, newcomer women avoided sharing their political views online in fear of harassment, or refugees feared the use of social media as it put their immigration status at risk (Zaher, 2020). Furthermore, limited linguistic and media skills have been shown to create miscommunications, reinforcing pre-existing divides in second-generation adolescent immigrants (Ranieri & Bruni, 2012). Migrant literacy (linguistic and technological) "appears as both an empowering and an exclusionary force" (Weibert et al., 2023, p. 24) during the arrival process. These obstructions can take simple forms, such as the inability to access e-services (an increasingly common platform for social services) directly impinging on agency and social capital (Alam & Imran, 2015). These studies show how converging media and technologies can both provide and limit agency within host countries and, in turn, affect migrant identities.

In terms of disseminating migrants' ideas into the greater online space, online echo chambers pose a threat to erasing social divides. Analysis of social media hashtags on imperative immigration topics has proved as an example of this: Jaramillo-Dent & Pérez-Rodríguez (2021) studied 105 posts related to the Mexican border wall (including those posts by those trying to pass the wall) and found that algorithms delivered posts almost exclusively to those with a similar or the same political viewpoint, which suggested that "social media platforms such as Instagram are fertile grounds for political manipulation and polarization" (Jaramillo-Dent & Pérez-Rodríguez, 2021, pp. 136–137).

Migrant-initiated narratives through converging media can benefit social connections, cross linguistic and cultural barriers, and create work opportunities. However, as discussed in section 4.2, access to converging media is not equitable across all migrant groups, and some disadvantaged groups have serious barriers preventing them from accessing these benefits.

Concurrently, consuming and creating content can increase migrant agency, the impact of their content on the broader social narrative is in question — this reaffirms the trends of social media where it functions as a tool for status-seeking or identity affirmation but does not necessarily shift existing narratives (Van Bavel et al., 2023), exemplifying the paradoxical nature of narrative creation, which simultaneously brings together yet further divides. Migrants find themselves in a unique position; with the concept of borders becoming increasingly digitized, the converging media realm presents a rapidly changing and relatively unstable space in which migrants are increasingly obliged to participate. Still, the use of converging media shows potential for innovating space which stands entirely outside of 'politics proper,' where often oppressed voices are refused a space within the allegedly democratic ethos (Chee, 2022).

5.2 The Outer Voices: External Influences on Migration Narratives

An imperative concern in the present day is the rapid spread of false information which has followed the evolution of media (predominantly on social media) (Bennett & Livingston, 2018). The impact of misinformation on migration narratives and their political outcomes is no exception to this prominent symptom of social media. The rise of the Far Right in Europe and North America. fuelled by anti-immigrant misinformation, has been intensifying since the refugee crisis in 2015. Anti-immigrant rhetoric has been normalized thanks to the increasing distrust of mainstream media, which has allowed algorithmically fuelled uncritical attitudes to take flight (Culloty & Suiter, 2021). Stories from the media shape single stories (narrow perspectives), which remove the humanity of migrant groups (Festa, 2023, p. 33). Migration as a topic has been a particularly polarizing political topic within the media space (Ekman, 2019; Farkas et al., 2018). Disinformation and media manipulation tactics have been linked to far-right anti-immigration policy-making (Culloty & Suiter, 2021). Ahmed et al. (2024) studied Singaporean adult social media use in relation to their perceptions of migration and found those with higher social media use and greater threat perception often displayed negative outlooks toward migrants. With countries (the U.S. as a prime example) increasingly reaffirming their population's safety through anti-immigration narratives and using technology to do so (Nyabola, 2023), the problem is increasingly becoming more imperative for pro-immigration scholars. We are now faced with the challenge of effectively integrating immigrant stories into a polarizing international climate. As Nyabola (2023) points out, the groups most needing their stories disseminated often have the most obstructed relationships with power. Integrating these identities into the Western media machine without subsuming and altering the original message has proved difficult, as evidenced in the projects led by groups of "researchers, directors, authors, cultural operators, and mediators" (Cati & Piredda, 2017, p. 632) that failed to involve migrant participants in the communication style of the project and did not embody the migrant storytellers' ideas or initiatives. It points to the critical co-creation practices as discussed in section 4.5.

Notes of McLuhan's "The medium is the message" (1994, p 7) resonate here, a sporadic evolution of converging media has produced a necessarily incohesive political dialogue. Narratives on the topic of migration tend to promote a binary—the right as anti-immigration and the left as pro-immigration—removing the nuances of the conversation. Converging media's increasingly popular short-form content is often crude, as evidenced in TikTok, YouTube shorts, Instagram reels, affirming existing politically binary opinions. Established critiques on mass media hold true to contemporary media: Integration through media integrates culture in a repressive way, promoting conformity to limited options (Adorno & Horkheimer, 2007). Migrant narratives tend to be crafted with the intention of captivating the largest audience, following suit with the media outlets existing political orientation.

The advance of converging media and ever-changing technologies are inevitable and therefore require a willingness to constantly adapt. This section does not imply that individuals

should stop spreading their views on the topic or that immigration narratives should not continue to be disseminated. The topic now requires serious critical engagement with what it means to disseminate an idea. Scholars need to innovate this process, further exploring the tension between a need for improved immigrant media accessibility and avoiding conforming to existing binary narratives. The Western media machines insistently are all too powerful under the all encapsulating and constant reproducing guise of capital. Our media is consistently attempting to consume the message through the medium's power, and thus far converging media is failing to escape this trend.

6. Taking up Digital Third Places

6.1 Outside Looking in: Physical and Digital Third Places

The concept of third place, first introduced by Oldenburg (1989) identifies three key places that act as connective tissue between an individual and their surrounding society, effectively relating them to their context and heightening their sense of belonging and integration (Bosman & Dolley, 2019). The first place is the home, the second place is the workplace, and the third place is any informal public gathering place that provides a neutral and accessible opportunity for individuals to meet, interact, and develop a sense of relationality and belonging to a place and each other (Bosman & Dolley, 2019; Koliska & Roberts, 2021). These practices effectively enable migrants to turn new space, like an unfamiliar new city, into a place, defined by personal meaning and connection (Koliska & Roberts, 2021; Zhuang, 2017; Zhuang & Lok, 2023).

6.2 The Co-Production of Digital Third Places

Since media literacy skills are often required to navigate new unfamiliar physical and digital spaces, digital storytelling has emerged as a tool that contributes to the creation of digital third spaces that enable individuals to practice processes of placemaking in the digital realm (Halegoua & Polson, 2021; Marino, 2015; Vecchio et al., 2017). When migrants share their narratives using converging media, cyberspace emerges as a new type of placemaking environment where groups geographically unbound can find and form cohesive communities by producing and sharing narratives, therefore disrupting the conventional understandings of space, place, border and territory (Marino, 2015). Examples of such digital third places include online gaming communities. social media groups, and personal blogs which are integral in fostering and sustaining the usergenerated, informal, creative economy that allows migrants to independently share their experiences outside spatial, institutional or formal constraints, thus exercising their agency while increasing their visibility and representation (Dovey et al., 2016; Roudometof, 2023). Due to the hyperlinked nature of converging media and the rapid spread of information, such places are created at hyperspeed thanks to ubiquitous technologies like mobile phones, converging into a third culture built using converging media that anchors migrants to a digital community while they simultaneously attempt to anchor themselves to a physical one (Roudometof, 2023).

As outlined by third place theory, individuals' experiences continue to be shaped through new experiences and interactions in these online spaces (Vecchio et al., 2017), providing ample opportunity for personal reflection, affirmation of identity, and a new avenue towards connecting with that identity beyond one's status as refugee, asylum seeker, or another othering status within their host community (Biglin, 2021). This fluidity offers migrants some power in shifting dominant stereotypes that categorize them one dimensionally (Nedelcu & Soysüren, 2022), instead allowing them to create a digital sense of place, a sense of identity, and increase their representation by

connecting with others who relate to them, supporting the facilitation of grassroots movements, starting conversations and digital storytelling (Roudometof, 2023).

6.3 A Space to Make Place: Digital Placemaking Informing Physical Placemaking

Although digital third places allow for migrant voices to be heard despite hostility from mainstream media (Nedelcu & Soysüren, 2022), there remains a necessity to identify a bridge between the digital and the physical to ensure migrants integrate and make place for themselves in their new environments—this bridge can be digital placemaking (Dovey et al., 2016). In the past five years, digital placemaking has been emergent in literature and described as a strategy that uses converging media to enable individuals to engage in activism, meet new people, and establish meaningful connections that begin digitally and culminate in a physical space (Basaraba, 2023; Yazici, 2024). Typical strategies and tools that enable digital placemaking using converging media include geolocational tagging, capturing and sharing images of the self on social media, sharing videos of self or place on social media, ultimately using social media processes of recording and displaying one's social life as a means to make meaningful connections with the physical place while remaining in contact with the digital communities that empowered them to explore those physical spaces (Hurley, 2023; Koliska & Roberts, 2021; Slingerland et al., 2022).

In congruence with converging media, digital placemaking affords migrants the bottomup, user-led ability to create narratives about the places they interact with through their own intersectional lens (Hurley, 2023). As such, digital placemaking allows migrants to use digital storytelling to express themselves, collaborate with others, and effectively create a sense of place for themselves (Halegoua & Polson, 2021). For example, TikTok, a popular short-form video social media platform which allows user generated uploads, has been the primary digital third place for immigrant domestic workers in the Middle East (Hurley, 2023). In their attempts to create a sense of belonging, they post videos that showcase the relatable banality of their daily lives, their experiences, their places and their politics that are shared and interacted with by members of their community around the world who all use the same hashtags, follow the same accounts, and interact in the same digital third place that results (Hurley, 2023). Since the digital storytellers have agency over their stories and can avoid alterations by the mainstream, this strategy emphasizes migrants' self-description, self-legitimation and authentication while allowing them to cross digital borders in these online spaces. (Festa, 2023; Katz & Winegardner, 2010). The sense of belonging cultivated in this digital third place may support the transitioning of those connections and experiences into the physical realm where migrants may begin to adjust to their host societies (Andersson, 2019; Halegoua & Polson, 2021; Marino, 2015). For example, documented experiences of refugees in the UK reveal that these digital third spaces allow migrants to meet others who can provide them with key resources that enable integration by providing their experiences with finding employment, legitimizing status, or simply introducing them to new places in the city (Yazici, 2024). This convergence of digital and physical placemaking efforts renders these activities more sustainable and supportive to migrant integration (Halegoua & Polson, 2021; Marino, 2015; Mitra & Evansluong, 2019).

As outlined, the use of converging media creates a liminal space in which migrants can produce their digital narratives, subsequently informing their identities in relation to each other and their new environment (Halegoua & Polson, 2021; Labayen & Guitierrez, 2021; Mitra & Evansluong, 2019). The focus on the banality of the everyday allows audiences to interact with the narratives of the creators not just as migrants, but as individuals with universal emotions, desires, and ambitions, thus awarding them an opportunity to find their place in their physical communities (Ponzanesi & Leurs, 2022).

6.4 Digital Citizenship: The Convergence of the Digital and the Physical

Through participation in digital third places facilitated by converging media and exercising digital placemaking, migrants are continuously networked with their transnational communities, sharing their narratives and assuming the roles of not only users, but participants, producers and editors of converging media and the narratives produced therein (Ponzanesi & Leurs, 2022). One is no longer bound by the confines of borders or boundaries, as participators in these spaces can be involved in digital third places that expand over the entire globe and offer a space unconstrained by mainstream stereotypes, demonization or othering, allowing migrants to break free of social confines and begin to explore what it means to have their rights to their city and the power and legitimacy of their digital citizenship (Ponzanesi & Leurs, 2022). This emboldened spirit can facilitate political mobilizations, encourage civic discourse, and allow for the creation of initiatives such as digital advocacy organizations that can support causes relevant to migrant communities (Nedelcu & Soysüren, 2022). For young migrants especially, interactions in these spaces, often built using location specific social media platforms, offer opportunities for identifying themselves beyond their status as migrants, encouraging them to connect with like-minded individuals near them, thus equipping them with a sense of belonging and citizenship (Lepanen et al., 2009; Najafi et al., 2022). The notion of digital citizenship celebrates the dynamism of the individual, instead of confining them to the label of migrant-they become an individual with memories, skills, values and ambitions that translate into cultural converging media assets including websites, community groups, or grassroots initiatives (Dovey et al., 2016). One no longer interprets themselves as only local, or only global, but instead an intermingling of both identities as converging media enables migrants to remain connected to their existing communities, while offering them the avenues to create new ones based on their intersectional identities (Roudometof, 2023). This evolved ambiguity allows participants to embolden their agency, to share their narratives, and to access the necessary resources from their shared community to converge with their physical spaces, finally exercising their rights to the city in which they live (Yazici, 2024).

7. Conclusion

This paper explores the convergence of media, technology, and migrant communities to provide a nuanced understanding of migrant narratives and the paradox of co-creation practices. It introduces the term 'converging media' to capture its intransitive nature, the collapse of contexts within the digital realm, the rapid and ever-evolving uses of technology-enhanced media, the affordances in practice, and user dynamics related to migration narratives. The paper reveals how converging media amplifies migrant agency and narratives, and evokes emotive storytelling for change. However, challenges around access, literacy, and representation persist. Co-creative practices are considered a decentring tool to prioritize migrants' perspectives and agency. However, trust building and power dynamics between researchers and migrant participants can create barriers that hinder the effective representation of migrants' voices, thus revealing the paradox of co-creation. Public and political discourses are also ignited due to the dominant Western narratives and control of media. By converging with these power dynamics and transcending virtual spaces through content production and dissemination, migrants are actively creating digital third spaces to forge a new form of digital belonging and citizenship.

This paper offers several takeaways for migration scholars and recommends the following future research directions. First, migrant-initiated narratives through converging media can differ from those initiated by non-migrants. Migration scholars should develop a nuanced understanding of the differences, especially when migrants' narratives regarding identity, belonging, and agency are underrepresented. Comparative studies can be further developed to investigate the narrative tools, structures, and contents between the two approaches. Second, it is crucial to recognize

both the empowering potential of converging media as well as the risks and inequality associated with it. Future studies could further explore the effects of converging media in amplifying migrant voices while exposing them to potential risks such as surveillance, misinformation, disinformation, and cyberbullying. Questions such as "Who benefits? Who gets harmed? Who is left out?" should be addressed. Third, co-creative, reflexive, and emotive digital storytelling is powerful, authentic, and representative. Migration scholars need to ensure active, meaningful, and reciprocal engagement of migrants as the creators, not merely study subjects, of migration narratives through the use of converging media. Lastly, a critical examination of whose voices are amplified or suppressed through converging media is crucial to enhance our understanding of agency, identity, and citizenship. Future research should explore how digital third places enable migrant agency and foster digital belonging and citizenship.

References

- Adorno, T., & Horkheimer, M. (2007). The culture industry: Enlightenment as mass deception. In G. S. Noeri (Ed.), & E. Jephcott (Trans.), *Dialectic of enlightenment* (pp. 94–136). Stanford University Press
- Agúndez Del Castillo, R., Ferro, L., & Silva, E. (2024). The use of digital technologies in the cocreation process of photo elicitation. *Qualitative Research Journal*, *ahead-of-print* (ahead-of-print). https://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-06-2023-0101
- Ahmed, S., Jaidka, K., Chen, V. H. H., Cai, M., Chen, A., Emes, C. S., Yu, V., & Chib, A. (2024). Social media and anti-immigrant prejudice: A multi-method analysis of the role of social media use, threat perceptions, and cognitive ability. *Frontiers in psychology, 15,* Article 1280366. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2024.1280366
- Alam, K., & Imran, S. (2015), The digital divide and social inclusion among refugee migrants: A case in regional Australia. *Information Technology & People, 28*(2), 344–365. https://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-04-2014-0083
- Alexandra, D. (2015). Visualising migrant voices: Co-creative documentary and the politics of listening [Doctoral dissertation, Technological University Dublin]. ARROW @ TU Dublin. https://doi.org/10.21427/D7RM9N
- Andersson, K. (2019). Digital diaspora: An overview of the research areas of migration and new media through a narrative literature review. *Human Technology*, *15*(2), 142–180. https://doi.org/10.17011/ht/urn.201906123154
- Arnstein, S. R. (1969). A ladder of citizen participation. *Journal of the American Institute of Planners*, 35(4), 216–224. https://doi.org/10.1080/01944366908977225
- Baines, S., Wilson, R., Fox, C., Aflaki, I. N., Bassi, A., Aramo-Immonen, H., & Prandini, R. (2024). Introduction: Co-creation and the 'sandcastle' problem. In S. Baines, R. Wilson, C. Fox, I. N. Aflaki, A. Bassi, H. Aramo-Immonen, & R. Prandini (Eds.), Co-creation in Public Services for Innovation and Social Justice (pp. 1–17). Policy Press. https://bristoluniversitypressdigital.com/edcollchap-oa/book/9781447367185/ch001.xml
- Basaraba, N. (2023). The emergence of creative and digital place-making: A scoping review across disciplines. *New Media & Society*, *25*(6), 1470–1497. https://doi.org/10.1177/14614448211044942
- Bateman, J. A. (2021). What are digital media? *Discourse, Context & Media, 41,* Article 100502. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dcm.2021.100502
- Bennett, W. L., & Livingston, S. (2018). The disinformation order: Disruptive communication and the decline of democratic institutions. *European Journal of Communication*, *33*(2), 122–139. https://doi.org/10.1177/0267323118760317
- Bosman, C., & Dolley, J. (2019). Rethinking third places and community building. In C. Bosman & J. Dolley (Eds.), *Rethinking third places* (pp. 1–19). Edward Elgar Publishing. https://www.elgaronline.com/edcollchap/edcoll/9781786433909/9781786433909.00009. xml
- Brigham, S. M., Baillie Abidi, C., & Zhang, Y. (2018). What participatory photography can tell us about immigrant and refugee women's learning in Atlantic Canada. *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, 37(2), 234–254. https://doi.org/10.1080/02601370.2017.1422044
- Cabalquinto, E. C. (2024). #OFW: Filipino migrant workers brokering counter narratives of overseas life on TikTok. *First Monday*, *29*(8), 19. https://doi.org/10.5210/fm.v29i8.13748.
- Campion, R., & Dieckmann, S. S. (2024). Building Bridges: Translating Refugee Narratives for Public Audiences with Arts-based Media. *Journal of Intercultural Studies*, *45*(2), 208–227. https://doi.org/10.1080/07256868.2023.2229547
- Cati, A., & Piredda, M. F. (2017). Among drowned lives: Digital archives and migrant memories in the age of transmediality. *Auto/Biography Studies, 32*(3), 628–637. https://doi.org/10.1080/08989575.2017.1338037

- Chee, L. (2023). Play and counter-conduct: Migrant domestic workers on TikTok. *Global Society*, *37*(4), 593–617. https://doi.org/10.1080/13600826.2023.2217523
- Chen, D.-T., Wu, J., & Wang, Y. (2011). Unpacking new media literacy. *Systemics, Cybernetics and Informatics*, 9(2), 84–88.
- Chen, Y., Tian, H., & Chang, J. (2021). Chinese first, woman second: Social media and the cultural identity of female immigrants. *Asian Journal of Women's Studies*, *27*(1), 22–45. https://doi.org/10.1080/12259276.2021.1873575
- Couldry, N. (2004). Theorising media as practice. *Social Semiotics*, *14*(2), 115–132. https://doi.org/10.1080/1035033042000238295
- Costa, E. (2018). Affordances-in-practice: An ethnographic critique of social media logic and context collapse. *New Media & Society, 20*(10), 3641–3656. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444818756290
- Culloty, E., & Suiter, J. (2021) How online disinformation and far-right activism is shaping public debates on immigration. In M. McAuliffe (Ed.), *Research Handbook on International Migration and Digital Technology* (pp. 316–329). Edward Elgar Publishing Limited.
- de Souza e Silva, A. (2023). Hybrid spaces 2.0: Connecting networked urbanism, uneven mobilities, and creativity, in a (post) pandemic world. *Mobile media & Communication*, 11(1), 59–65. https://doi.org/10.1177/20501579221132118
- Del Vecchio, D., Toomey, N. & Tuck, E. (2017). Placing photovoice: Participatory action research with undocumented migrant youth in the Hudson Valley. *Critical Questions in Education*, 8(4), 358–376.
- Dezuanni, M., Foth, M., Mallan, K., Hughes, H., & Osborne, R. (2018). Chapter 1—Social Living Labs for Digital Participation and Connected Learning. In M. Dezuanni, M. Foth, K. Mallan, & H. Hughes (Eds.), *Digital Participation through Social Living Labs* (pp. 1–17). Chandos Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-102059-3.00001-0
- Dovey, J., Alevizou, G., & Williams, A. (2016). Citizenship, value and digital culture. In I. Hargreaves & J. Hartley (Eds.), *The Creative Citizen Unbound: How social media and DIY culture contribute to democracy, communities and the creative economy* (pp. 75–102). Policy Press. https://doi.org/10.46692/9781447324973.005
- Ekman, M. (2019). Anti-immigration and racist discourse in social media. *European Journal of Communication*, *34*(6), 606–618. https://doi.org/10.1177/0267323119886151
- Ekoh, P. C., & Walsh, C. A. (2024). Visual methods for qualitative research with older refugees: Reflection on strengths and drawbacks. *The Qualitative Report, 29*(2), 435–449. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2024.6266
- Farkas, J., Schou, J., & Neumayer, C. (2018). Platformed antagonism: Racist discourses on fake Muslim Facebook pages. *Critical Discourse Studies*, *15*(5), 463–480. https://doi.org/10.1080/17405904.2018.1450276
- Faye, R., & Ravneberg, B. E. (2024). Making vulnerable groups able to connect socially and digitally—Opportunities and pitfalls. *Frontiers in Education*, 9, Article 1346721. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2024.1346721
- Festa, M. (2023). The visual-digital storytelling in current migration narratives. *RiCOGNIZIONI, Rivista Di Lingue e Letterature Straniere e Culture Moderne*, *10*(20), 29–37. https://doi.org/10.13135/2384-8987/7488
- Friedman, L. W., & Friedman, H. H. (2008). The new media technologies: Overview and research framework (SSRN Scholarly Paper No. 1116771). http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1116771
- Georgiou, M. (2019). City of refuge or digital order? Refugee recognition and the digital governmentality of migration in the city. *Television & New Media*, *20*(6), 600–616. https://doi.org//10.1177/1527476419857683

- Georgiou, M., & Leurs, K. (2022). Smartphones as personal digital archives? Recentring migrant authority as curating and storytelling subjects. *Journalism*, *23*(3), 668–689. https://doi.org/10.1177/14648849211060629
- Guzman, E. M. (2009). Imprisonment, deportation, and family separation: My American nightmare. *Social Justice*, *36*(2 (116)), 106–109. http://www.jstor.org/stable/29768541
- Halegoua, G., & Polson, E. (2021). Exploring "digital placemaking." *Convergence: The International Journal of Research into New Media Technologies*, 27(3), 573–578. https://doi.org/10.1177/13548565211014828
- Hancox, D. (2011). Stories with impact: The potential of storytelling to contribute to cultural research and social inclusion. *M/C Journal*, *14*(6). https://doi.org/10.5204/mcj.439
- Hart, S. A. (2023). Moving-with stories of deportation: Witnessing as visceral response-ability. *Journal of Dance & Somatic Practices, 15*(2), 231–246. https://doi.org/10.1386/jdsp_00107_1
- Hill, A. (2019). Power to the people: Responsible facilitation in co-creative story-making [Doctoral dissertation, University of Central Florida]. STARS Electronic Theses and Dissertations. https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd/6405
- Hurley, Z. (2023). #Dubailiving and digital placemaking on TikTok: migrant, domestic, and service workers' affective social mediascapes. *Social Media + Society*, 9(3), Article 20563051231196897. https://doi.org/10.1177/20563051231196897
- Jaramillo-Dent, D., & Pérez-Rodríguez, M. A. (2021). #MigrantCaravan: The border wall and the establishment of otherness on Instagram. New Media & Society, 23(1), 121–141. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444819894241
- Jenkins, H. (2006). *Convergence culture: Where old and new media collide*. New York University Press.
- Jensen, K. B. (2011). New media, old methods Internet methodologies and the online/offline divide. In M. Consalvo & C. Ess (Eds.), *The handbook of internet studies* (pp. 43–58). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781444314861.ch3
- Johnson, L., & Kendrick, M. (2017). "Impossible Is nothing": Expressing difficult knowledge through digital storytelling. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy, 60*(6), 667–675. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaal.624
- Joshi, S. (2018). Co-creation framework Building a sustainable ecosystem (Research and Innovation Action D.1.1). Co-Inform: Co-Creating Misinformation-Resilient Societies. Stockholm University. https://pure.iiasa.ac.at/id/eprint/15590/1/2018%20-%20H2020%20-%20Co-Inform%20-%20D1.1-Co-Creation%20Framework Appendix%20D1.1 FINAL%2018.pdf
- Kahne, J., Middaugh, E., & Allen, D. (2015). Youth, new media, and the rise of participatory politics. In D. Allen & J. S. Light (Eds.), *From voice to influence: Understanding citizenship in a digital age* (pp. 35–56). University of Chicago Press. https://doi.org/10.7208/9780226262437-004
- Katz, H., & Winegardner, Z. (2020). Create, connect, contemplate: Engaging digital technology for the future art museum and curriculum. *Art Education*, 73(3), 29–37. https://doi.org/10.1080/00043125.2020.1717819
- Koliska, M., & Roberts, J. (2021). Space, place, and the self: Reimagining selfies as thirdspace. Social Media + Society, 7(2), Article 20563051211027213. https://doi.org/10.1177/20563051211027213
- Krause, E. L., & Gubrium, A. C. (2019). "Scribble scrabble": Migration, young parenting Latinas, and digital storytelling as narrative shock. *Medical Anthropology Quarterly, 33*(3), 420–438. https://doi.org/10.1111/maq.12519
- Labayen, M. F., & Gutierrez, I. (2021). Digital placemaking as survival tactics: Sub-Saharan migrants' videos at the Moroccan–Spanish border. *Convergence: The International*

- *Journal of Research into New Media Technologies*, *27*(3), 664–678. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354856520982974
- LeBuhn, M. A. (2018). *Picture this: How digital storytelling campaigns elicit empathy from a distant audience* [Undergraduate thesis, University of Oregon]. UO Libraries. https://scholarsbank.uoregon.edu/xmlui/handle/1794/24028
- Lember, V., Brandsen, T., & Tõnurist, P. (2019). The potential impacts of digital technologies on co-production and co-creation. *Public Management Review*, *21*(11), 1665–1686. https://doi.org/10.1080/14719037.2019.1619807
- Leppänen, S., Pitkänen-Huhta, A., Piirainen-Marsh, A., Nikula, T., & Peuronen, S. (2009). Young people's translocal new media uses: A multiperspective analysis of language choice and heteroglossia. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, *14*(4), 1080–1107. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1083-6101.2009.01482.x
- Leurs, K., Agirreazkuenaga, I., Smets, K., & Mevsimler, M. (2020). The politics and poetics of migrant narratives. *European Journal of Cultural Studies*, *23*(5), 679–697. https://doi.org/10.1177/1367549419896367.
- Leurs, K., & Smets, K. (2018). Five questions for digital migration studies: Learning from digital connectivity and forced migration in(to) Europe. *Social Media and Society, 4*(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305118764425
- Lievrouw, L. A. (2023). Alternative and activist new media. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Logan, R. K. (2016). *Understanding new media: Extending Marshall McLuhan*. Peter Lang. https://doi.org/10.3726/978-1-4539-1652-0
- Loos, E., & Ivan, L. (2024). Not only people are getting old, the new media are too: Technology generations and the changes in new media use. *New Media & Society*, 26(6), 3588–3613. https://doi.org/10.1177/14614448221101783
- Ma, Q. (2023). The use of digital storytelling in bilingual/multilingual students' meaning-making: A systematic literature review (No. 9543) [Master's thesis, Western University]. Western Graduate & Postdoctoral Studies Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/9543
- Madianou, M., & Miller, D. (2013). Polymedia: Towards a new theory of digital media in interpersonal communication. *International Journal of Cultural Studies, 16*(2), 169–187. https://doi.org/10.1177/1367877912452486
- Manovich, L. (2003). New media from Borges to HTML. In N. Wardrip-Fruin & N. Montfort (Eds.), *The new media reader* (pp. 13–25). The MIT Press.
- Manzini, E. (2015). Design, everybody designs. The MIT Press.
- Marino, S. (2015). Making space, making place: Digital togetherness and the redefinition of migrant identities online. *Social Media + Society*, *1*(2), Article 2056305115622479. https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305115622479
- Marshall, P. D. (2011). Newly mediated media: understanding the changing internet landscape of the media industries. In M. Consalvo & C. Ess (Eds.), *The handbook of internet studies* (pp. 406–423). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781444314861.ch19
- McMorrow, S. L., & Saksena, J. (2020). Through their eyes: A photovoice and interview exploration of integration experiences of Congolese refugee women in Indianapolis. *Journal of International Migration and Integration*, 21(2), 529–549.
- McLuhan, M. (1994). The medium is the message. In *Understanding media: The extensions of man* (pp. 7–23). The MIT Press.
- McMullan, J. (2020). A new understanding of 'New Media': Online platforms as digital mediums. *Convergence, 26*(2), 287–301. https://doi.org/10.1177/1354856517738159
- Millard, A., Baldassar, L., & Wilding, R. (2018). The significance of digital citizenship in the well-being of older migrants. *Public Health, 158*(Complete), 144–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2018.03.005

- Miled, N. (2020). Can the displaced speak? Muslim refugee girls negotiating identity, home and belonging through Photovoice. *Women's Studies International Forum, 81*, Article 102381. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wsif.2020.102381
- Mitra, A., & Evansluong, Q. (2019). Narratives of integration: Liminality in migrant acculturation through social media. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, *145*, 474–480. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2019.01.011
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2022). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 5: Cocreative qualitative approaches for emerging themes in primary care research: Experience-based co-design, user-centred design and community-based participatory research. *European Journal of General Practice*, 28(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2021.2010700
- Najafi, P., Mohammadi, M., Blanc, P. M. L., & van Wesemael, P. (2022). Insights into placemaking, senior people, and digital technology: A systematic quantitative review. *Journal of Urbanism International Research on Placemaking and Urban Sustainability* 17(2), 525–554. https://doi.org/10.1080/17549175.2022.2076721
- Nedelcu, M., & Soysüren, I. (2022). Precarious migrants, migration regimes and digital technologies: The empowerment-control nexus. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies,* 48(8), 1821–1837. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183X.2020.1796263
- Nyabola, N. (2023). Sovereign identity crisis: What does a decolonial approach to digital technology reveal about the sovereign identity crisis? *Temple Law Review*, *95*(4), 593–603. https://www.templelawreview.org/lawreview/assets/uploads/2023/07/1.-Nyabola English 95 593-603.pdf
- Oxford University Press. (n.d.). Converge, v. In *Oxford English dictionary*. https://doi.org/10.1093/OED/8258313735
- Palmberger, M. (2022). Refugees enacting (digital) citizenship through placemaking and care practices near and far. *Citizenship Studies*, *26*(6), 781–798. https://doi.org/10.1080/13621025.2022.2103971
- Park, E., Forhan, M., & Jones, C. A. (2021). The use of digital storytelling of patients' stories as an approach to translating knowledge: a scoping review. *Research Involvement and Engagement*, 7(58), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40900-021-00305-x
- Pienimäki, M. (2021). Participatory photography supporting the social inclusion of migrant youth. *Journal of Youth Studies*, 24(9), 1179–1198. https://doi.org/10.1080/13676261.2020.1814227
- Preiss, C. (2022). Digital migration infrastructures. In P. Scholten (Ed.), *Introduction to Migration Studies* (pp. 99–109). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-92377-8_5
- Ponzanesi, S., & Leurs, K. (2022). Digital migration practices and the everyday. *Communication, Culture and Critique*, 15(2), 103–121. https://doi.org/10.1093/ccc/tcac016
- Praag, L. V. (2021). Co-creation in migration studies: The use of co-creative methods to study migrant integration across European societies. Leuven University Press.
- Ranieri, M., & Bruni, I. (2012). Mobile storytelling and informal education in a suburban area: A qualitative study on the potential of digital narratives for young second-generation immigrants. *Learning, Media and Technology, 38*(2), 217–235. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439884.2013.724073
- Roudometof, V. (2023). Digital glocalization: Theorizing the twenty-first-century ICT revolution. *Frontiers in Communication*, *8*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcomm.2023.1244614
- Shaw, D. L., & Hamm, B. J. (2013). Agendas for a public union or for private communities? How individuals are using media to reshape American society. In M. E. McCombs, D. L. Shaw, & D. H. Weaver (Eds.), Communication and democracy: Exploring the intellectual frontiers in agenda-setting theory (pp. 209–230). Taylor and Francis. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203810880-22

- Shuva, N. Z. (2021). Internet, social media, and settlement: A study on Bangladeshi immigrants in Canada. *Canadian Journal of Information and Library Science*, *43*(3), 291–315. https://muse.jhu.edu/article/781389
- Sine, R. (2019). New communication technologies: A focus group study about children. In G. Sarı (Ed.), *Handbook of research on children's consumption of digital media* (pp. 105–113). IGI Global. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-5225-5733-3.ch008
- Slingerland, G., Murray, M., Lukosch, S., McCarthy, J., & Brazier, F. (2022). Participatory design going digital: Challenges and opportunities for distributed place-making. *Computer Supported Cooperative Work (CSCW)*, *31*(4), 669–700. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10606-022-09438-3
- Svoen, B., Dobson, S., & Bjørge, L. (2019). Let's talk and share! Refugees and migrants building social inclusion and wellbeing through digital stories and online learning resources. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, *25*(1), 94–107. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2019.1678802
- Triandafyllidou, A. (2020). Nationalism in the 21st century: Neo-tribal or plural? *Nations and Nationalism*, 26(4), 792–806. https://doi.org/10.1111/nana.12650
- Triandafyllidou, A. (2024a). Citizenship and belonging in a globalised and digitalised world (SI proposal). Manuscript in progress.
- Triandafyllidou, A. (2024b). Re-imagining the nation. From print capitalism to the era of social media. Manuscript in progress.
- Van Bavel, J. J., Robertson, C. E., del Rosario, K., Rasmussen, J., & Rathje, S. (2024). Social media and morality. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 75(1), 311–340. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-022123-110258
- Vecchio, L., Dhillon, K. K., & Ulmer, J. B. (2017). Visual methodologies for research with refugee youth. *Intercultural Education*, 28(2), 131–142. https://doi.org/10.1080/14675986.2017.1294852
- Veronis, L., Tabler, Z., & Ahmed, R. (2018). Syrian refugee youth use social media: Building transcultural spaces and connections for resettlement in Ottawa, Canada. *Canadian Ethnic Studies*, *50*(2), 79–99. https://doi.org/10.1353/ces.2018.0016
- Warschauer, M., & Matuchniak, T. (2010). New technology and digital worlds: Analyzing evidence of equity in access, use, and outcomes. *Review of Research in Education*, 34(1), 179–225. https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732X09349791
- Wei, L., & Hindman, D. B. (2011). Does the digital divide matter more? Comparing the effects of new media and old media use on the education-based knowledge gap. *Mass Communication and Society*, *14*(2), 216–235. https://doi.org/10.1080/15205431003642707
- Weibert, A., Oertel Ribeiro, N., Krüger, M., Alkhatib, A., Muntean, M., Aal, K., & Randall, D. (2023). Literacy and the process of becoming home: Learnings from an interactive storytelling-initiative. *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, 7(CSCW1), 1–29. https://doi.org/10.1145/3579503
- Wilf, S., Maker Castro, E., Gupta, K. G., & Wray-Lake, L. (2023). Shifting culture and minds: immigrant-origin youth building critical consciousness on social media. *Youth & Society,* 55(8), 1589-1614. https://doi.org/10.1177/0044118X221103890
- Wright-Brough, F. (2020). Productive discomfort: Negotiating totality in collaborative digital narrative practice. TEXT, 24(SI No. 59), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.52086/001c.23487
- Yazici, E. (2024). Internet access, place and belonging in the British asylum system. *New Media* & *Society*, Article 14614448241257216. https://doi.org/10.1177/14614448241257216
- Yoon, K. (2018). Multicultural digital media practices of 1.5-generation Korean immigrants in Canada. *Asian and Pacific Migration Journal*, *27*(2), 148–165. https://doi.org/10.1177/0117196818766906

- Zaher, Z. (2020). Examining how newcomer women to Canada use social media for social support. *Canadian Journal of Communication*, *45*(2), 199–220. https://doi.org/10.22230/cjc.2020v45n2a3541
- Zhuang, Z. C., & Lok, R. T. (2023). Exploring the wellbeing of migrants in third places: An empirical study of smaller Canadian cities. *Wellbeing, Space & Society, 4,* Article 100146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wss.2023.100146
- Zhuang, Z. C. (2017). Creating third places: Ethnic retailing and place-making in metropolitan Toronto. In N. Wise & J. Clark (Eds.), *Urban transformations: Geographies of renewal and creative change* (pp. 97–114). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315624457